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DECISION


This decision is issued pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”), 20 USC Sec. 1400 et seq.; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC Sec. 794); the Massachusetts special education statute or “Chapter 766,”  (MGL c. 71B) and the Massachusetts Administrative Procedures Act (MGL c. 30A), as well as the regulations promulgated under these statutes.    

On January 2, 2008, Parents filed a hearing request with the Bureau of Special Education Appeals (BSEA) alleging that the services and placement that Hudson proposed in its IEP for 2008 – 2009 are not reasonably calculated to provide Student, who has severe autism and global developmental delays, with a free, appropriate public education (FAPE).  Among other things, Parents allege that Hudson has failed or refused to ensure that certain key staff members have adequate credentials, to provide appropriate staff training, to provide effective occupational therapy services, and to appropriately schedule and provide sufficient hours of home-based programming.  Parents also allege that Hudson owes Student a number of hours of compensatory home-based services.  

Parents seeks an order requiring Hudson to: (1) ensure that the consultant to Student’s home and school-based programs be a doctoral level psychologist or Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA); (2) require Student’s home-based service providers to have bachelor’s degrees; (3) provide theoretical and competency training to Student’s ABA therapists; (4) replace Student’s current school-based occupational therapist with a different therapist; and (5) provide compensatory services corresponding to missed hours of home-based services during certain periods.  

 A hearing was held on March 3, 5, 12, and 19, 2008 at the offices of Catuogno Court Reporting Services in Worcester, MA.
  Parents represented themselves on behalf of Student, and the School was represented by counsel.  Each party had an opportunity to examine and cross-examine witnesses and submit documents into the record.   The documentary record consists of Parents’ exhibits P-1 through P-104 and School’s exhibits 1 through 28 .  The record also consists of approximately 9 hours of testimony that was both tape-recorded and transcribed by a certified court reporter.  The BSEA received written closing arguments by April 11, 2008, and the record closed on that day. 

Those present for all or part of the proceeding were:

Student’s Mother

Student’s Father

Julianna Bahosh

Director of Pupil Services, Hudson Public Schools

Lisa Kamean-Silva, Psy. D.
Consulting Psychologist, Hudson Public Schools

Brooke May


Special Education Teacher, Hudson Public Schools

Kathleen Park


Speech-Language Pathologist, Hudson Public Schools

Judy Flum


School Psychologist, Team Chair, Hudson Public Schools

Ann M. Cleary

Occupational Therapist, Assabet Valley Collaborative

Gail Miller


Occupational Therapist, Assabet Valley Collaborative

Cathy Cummins

Special Education Director, Assabet Valley Collaborative

Nancy Nevils, Esq.

Attorney for Hudson Public Schools

Dawn Halcisak

Court Reporter

ISSUES PRESENTED

The issues for hearing are the following:

(a) Whether the consultant for Student’s school and home-based program must be either a Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA) or a doctoral level psychologist;

(b) Whether Student’s home-based service providers must have bachelors degrees;

(c) Whether Hudson must provide Student’s ABA therapists with theoretical and competency training from a BCBA and doctoral level psychologist;

(d) Whether Hudson must provide Student with a different occupational therapist (OT) from the OT who currently works with him;

(e) Whether Hudson owes Student compensatory home based services for November 2007 forward, as well as for vacation services for December 2006 and December 2007;

(f) Whether Hudson’s proposal for home-based services for Student is reasonably calculated to provide him with a free, appropriate public education (FAPE);

(g) Whether the number and age span of pupils, and student-staff ratio in Student’s classroom complies with pertinent regulations;

(h) Whether Student is appropriately placed in his current classroom, or must be moved to the second classroom that is part of his educational program in order to receive FAPE;

(i) Whether Hudson must modify the proposed IEP to include goals for assistive technology and a token economy.
 

POSITION OF PARENTS


Student has severe and complex disabilities that Hudson has failed to address appropriately in several respects.  First, the staff members who deliver Student’s ABA programming lack the knowledge and skills needed to address Student’s escalating behavioral problems.  As a result, Student’s worsening behaviors prevent Student from making effective educational progress.  Hudson must ensure that a certified BCBA or doctoral level psychologist oversees Student’s home and school-based ABA programs, and that the ABA therapists have bachelor’s degrees, and must provide ABA therapists with additional training.  

Second, Hudson has failed to provide Student with a different occupational therapist from the one currently serving him, despite Student’s lack of progress toward meeting his OT goals and Hudson’s acknowledgement that a change in therapists might be advisable.  Hudson must provide Student with an OT who can meet his complex needs.

Third, Hudson failed to provide Student with agreed-upon home-based services from November 2007 forward, as well as for vacation periods in November 2006 and December 2007, has failed to propose an appropriate schedule of home-based services for his current IEP.  Moreover, Student needs more than the 48 weeks per year called for in the IEP.  

Fourth, Hudson has placed Student in a classroom that does not comply with either the requirements of his IEP or with applicable regulations governing age range and staff-to-student ratios.  Hudson must transfer Student to a different classroom within his current school.  

Finally, Hudson must modify its proposed IEP to include goals for assistive technology and a token economy.  

Parents want Student to continue in his current public school placement.  Unless Hudson makes the changes to Student’s services described above, however, Student’s behavioral problems will continue and/or increase, and Student will be at risk of needing residential placement.      
POSITION OF SCHOOL


Hudson’s proposed IEP for February 2008 through February 2009 is reasonably calculated to provide Student with a FAPE in the least restrictive environment.  The proposed IEP essentially continues Student’s current educational program, in which Student has been making meaningful educational progress commensurate with his abilities.  Hudson has been providing Student with a program that is designed according to principals of ABA and is highly individualized to meet Student’s unique needs.  All staff are well-qualified to provide services to children with Student’s profile.  Parents’ own evaluators have found Hudson’s program to be very appropriate for Student.  Hudson has incorporated many of the recommendations of these evaluators into its IEPs.


Further, Student has made progress in all areas covered by his IEP.  Many of Student’s maladaptive behaviors actually have diminished.  Other problematic behaviors have increased, not because Student’s programming is inappropriate, but because of other factors including an increasingly demanding educational program, Student’s physical discomfort caused by eczema and allergies, neurological issues, and the loss of an important reinforcer—Student’s bicycle—because Parents have failed to replace a broken bicycle helmet.  Moreover, the record does not support Parents’ assertion that Student has not progressed in the fine motor skills addressed by occupational therapy or that he requires a change in therapists.  Similarly, Parents have presented no evidence to support their claim that Student must be moved from his current classroom.  


With respect to home-based services, the 48 weeks of service proposed by Hudson is sufficient to provide Student with FAPE and prevent regression, and is consistent with the recommendations of one of Parents’ evaluators.  Parents’ request for additional hours is not supported by persuasive evidence; the recommendation by a second evaluator for a higher level of home-based service should be given little weight because that evaluator neither observed Hudson’s program nor spoke to staff.  


Finally, Hudson does not owe any compensatory service for missed sessions of home-based ABA.  Hudson offered to provide all required home-based services for the periods in question, and attempted to work with Parents to schedule them.  Although Parents missed some hours of service because the parties were unable to reach a mutually satisfactory schedule, Hudson fulfilled its obligations by offering to provide the services during the vacation periods.  Moreover, the Parents’ own actions contributed to at least some of the missed services.  In any event, Student missed only a minimal amount of service, and did not suffer regression.     

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Student is a friendly ten-year-old boy who lives within the Hudson school district.  According to a pediatric neurodevelopmental evaluation conducted in October 2007 by Karen Bresnahan, M.D., from the Center for Children with Special Needs at the Floating Hospital for Children, Student has diagnoses of autistic disorder, global developmental delays, and “provocative and non-compliant behaviors, self-injurious behaviors, inattention and distractibility consistent with Behavior Disorder N.O.S. “  (S-10)  Using the Batelle Developmental Inventory Screening Test, Dr. Bresnahan found that at the age of nine years, nine months, Student demonstrated overall functioning at the 2 to 2.5 year level.  (S-10)  Student is non-verbal, but communicates with gestures, vocalizations, signs, and picture symbols.  He is able to use a communication book throughout the day.  (S-11)  At home, Student responds to most parental requests, and can complete many ADLs with assistance.       

2. Student exhibits problematic behaviors in school.  Some of these behaviors are flopping, bolting (defined as leaving his work area), removal of shoes or other items of clothing, biting himself or others, licking/mouthing, environmental destruction (e.g., tearing up materials) and different types of non-compliance with teacher requests.  (S-10, May, Kamean-Silva).   The Parents assert that at least some of these behaviors have been escalating since approximately June 2005.  (Hearing Request, p. 8).  On the other hand, Parents are generally able to manage Student’s behavior at home.  (S-10)  

3. Additionally, Student is highly distractible, and requires a quiet, distraction free environment in order to attend to task.  (May, Kamean-Silva, S-10)

4. Student’s current substantially separate classroom is one of two classrooms within the Child Development Program, located at the Mulready School in Hudson, that are designed according to principles of ABA with a strong emphasis on discrete trial training.  (May, S-6).  As of the date of hearing, there were six students enrolled in the class, including Student.  The students range in age from three to ten years old.  Not all of the students are present in the classroom at the same time.  Most of the time, each of the children in the class, including Student, is being taught by an ABA therapist.  Student spends a substantial part of his school day in a cubby or carrel, working on various discrete trial programs with an ABA therapist.  The therapists rotate among the children during the day every two hours in an effort to help the students work with different individuals.  (May, Kamean-Silva)  Student may be seated with one or two classmates for activities such as snack or lunch, but does not receive group instruction with them. These classmates are not more than four years older or younger than Students.  (May)

5. Student’s therapists use edible reinforcers (i.e., food rewards) to motivate and reward Student for accomplishing tasks.  Another reinforcer is the opportunity for Student to ride on his bicycle for a few minutes.  Recently, Hudson has begun to use tokens as a substitute for some of the food reinforcers.  (S-6, May) 

6. Student’s teacher and ABA therapists conduct ongoing functional behavioral analyses to track targeted negative behaviors.  These analyses entail ongoing data collection to determine the antecedents of the behaviors, as well as to create and test hypotheses for the function the behavior serves and effective methodologies for eliminating the behavior, if appropriate.  (May, Kamean-Silva)    

7. Since 2002, the lead teacher in the classroom has been Ms. Brooke May.  Ms. May holds a Bachelor’s degree in speech pathology and audiology, a M.Ed. degree in education of children with severe special needs, and is certified by the Mass. Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (ESE) as a teacher of children with severe special needs.  Additionally, Ms. May has completed four of the five classes required to qualify her to sit for the examination for certification as a Board Certified Behavioral Analyst (BCBA).  Before joining the CDP program in 2000, Ms. May taught at the New England Center for Children (NECC), an ESE-approved private school serving children on the autism spectrum.  (May, S-26)

8. Ms. May’s responsibilities include providing newly hired ABA therapists with competency training spanning a two-week time period.  (May, Kamean-Silva, P-94).  This training typically consists of observation of other staff with students in a variety of settings, observation of discrete trials, and running supervised discrete trials with the student with whom the therapist will be primarily working.  This sequence is repeated every time a therapist is assigned a different student.  In addition, Ms. May and Dr. Kamean- Silva conduct ongoing observations and checks of accuracy of data gathering for all of the ABA therapists.  Ms. May meets with each therapist twice yearly for a performance review.  Finally, Hudson provides ongoing training and professional development opportunities, and, in March 2008, Ms. May presented a training on ABA theory.  (May)

9. The lead ABA therapist for the CDP program is Meghan Killoran, who is a Board Certified Associate Behavior Analyist (BCABA).  (May, Kamean-Silva).  Ms. Killoran assists Ms. May with data analysis, development of task analyses      

10. Student’s program receives three hours per week of consultation services from a licensed psychologist, Dr. Lisa Kamean-Silva.  Dr. Kamean-Silva has approximately 13 years of experience as a private practitioner specializing in assessing and treating children with various behavioral disabilities including autism spectrum disorders, and also consults with four schools (three public and one private) on their programs for students with autism.  Both school districts and parents hire Dr. Kamean-Silva to assess students and programs.  (Kamean-Silva, S-27)

11. Dr. Kamean-Silva’s services to Hudson’s CDP consist of observations of students as they work with staff, review of student progress, review of all behavioral data, and work with Ms. May on adjusting student programs in light of the data collected.  Dr. Kamean-Silva devotes approximately one of three weekly hours of consultation to Student’s program.  (Kamean-Silva, May).   

12.  In addition to services of Ms. May, Ms. Killoran, other ABA therapists, and the consultation services of Dr. Kamean-Silva, Student receives direct occupational therapy services from Ms. Ann Cleary.  Ms. Cleary is a registered, licensed occupational therapist with a Master’s degree and approximately 30 years of experience providing services.  Ms. Cleary has provided services to children in school settings for about 24 of those 30 years, and has worked with students with a wide variety of disabilities.  Ms. Cleary began providing services to Student in 2002, before he came to the CDP.  (Cleary, S-18C).  Initially, Ms. Cleary provided Student’s OT services via consultation to his classroom teacher.  Recently, Hudson added 30 minutes per week of direct OT services to Student’s IEP.  (Cleary).   

13. Student transitioned into public school from Early Intervention in December of 2000.  From that date until June 2002, Student attended a preschool program operated by the Assabet Valley Collaborative.  In September 2002, he entered Mulready School in Hudson, where he attended the Intensive Preschool program.  The following year, in September 2003, Student moved into the Primary Program at the same school.  

14. In January and February, 2004, at Hudson’s request, James K. Luiselli, Ed.D., reviewed Student’s records, observed Student, met with School staff and Parents, and assessed Student’s classroom in the Primary Program.  Dr. Luiselli also reviewed the CDP classroom which Student now attends.  (S-60, 61)

15. In a report written in February 2004, Dr. Luiselli recommended a hybrid placement for Student comprising his then-current Primary Program placement, with various accommodations and supports, as well as the substantially separate, CDP classroom.  

16. In Dr. Luiselli’s view, the CDP program met Student’s needs for a program that was based on an applied behavioral analysis model, and provided task analyzed skill acquisition programs, well-formulated prompt/prompt fading hierarchies, rigorous data collection, and behavioral interventions derived from individualized functional behavior assessments (FBAs)  P-61.   

17. In Dr. Luiselli’s opinion, the CDP peer grouping was compatible, consisting of six students with diagnoses of autism and pervasive developmental disorder.  All students had cognitive and communication delays as well as challenging behaviors.  Students received 1:1 instruction throughout the day, in both discrete trial sessions and group activities, as well as incidental teaching.  Staff rotated among students every two hours.  (P-61).      

18.  In approximately March 2004, Student began attending the CDP program on a full-time basis. In addition to the classroom services and instruction, Student received speech-language consultation services 1x30 minutes per week, and 1x20 minutes per week of consultation services from a doctoral level psychologist.  (S-3, S-5, May)

19. The parties agree that Student continued to make progress in the CDP classroom through most of the remainder of the 2004-2005 school year.  Student had started the IEP period in March 2004 with  “extremely difficult behaviors in the classroom” including putting non-food items in his mouth, slapping teachers, climbing, throwing materials, and the like, all in order to gain attention or avoid work.  (P-59).  Further, Student had difficulty with school related routines like walking in a line, using the bathroom, upacking his belongings, and managing lunch.  He engaged in self-stimulatory behaviors and did not interact appropriately with any age-appropriate toys or activities, and could not play independently or appropriately at all.  While interested in peers, Student was reluctant to interact with them. (S-3, S-5, May) 

20. By April 2005, Student had made considerable progress.  Targeted negative  behaviors (aggression, flopping, biting, licking, and stripping) had diminished to an average of zero to one incident per work period.  (P-59)  Additionally, Student had begun to play appropriately with a variety of toys.  By mid-June 2005, Student’s identified negative behaviors had all but disappeared, and Student had learned some sorting and matching activities, was able to play independently with certain toys, and had made a spontaneous request to play with a marble maze.  (P-59)  

21. In April 2005, Hudson issued an IEP for March 2005 through March 2006 that continued the CDP placement.  Parents partially rejected what apparently were typographical errors reducing the amount of OT and home consultation services. (P-100)  

22. In approximately June 2005, Ms. May went on maternity leave.   As stated above, Parents claim that Student’s behavior began deteriorating in her absence.    (Hearing Request)   On June 24, 2005, through their then-attorney, Parents requested Hudson to assess Student’s current functioning level, as well as to allow them to speak weekly with Dr. Kamean-Silva to discuss strategies for preventing further behavioral escalation.  (P-64)  In a reply from its counsel, Hudson agreed to conduct further testing of Student, but declined to allow weekly conversations between Parents and  Dr. Kamean –Silva.  (S-64, 65) 

23. On or about August 2005, Hudson issued a proposed IEP amendment that would allow CDP staff with appropriate certifications to implement “protective holds” to move Student’s location if he were to “flop” in a location that put him or others at risk, and a “basket wrap” procedure for behavior tending to place Student or others at risk of harm.  (P-58).  On September 2 and 9, 2005, Parents rejected this amendment and also wrote a “no consent” letter.  This letter, in essence, indicated that Parents did not consent to the use of physical restraint, seclusion, so-called “aversives,” or restrictive physical holds such as basket-wraps.  Rather, Parents requested an FBA and TEAM meeting if Student’s behaviors seemed to require physical intervention. (P-57, May, Kamean-Silva)

24. In March 2006, Hudson issued an IEP continuing Student’s CDP placement through March 2007, along with primarily 1:1 instruction throughout the day in a distraction-free environment, according to a discrete trial format.  Services included weekly teacher consultation with the OT, speech/language therapist, ABA provider and Parents.  In the section entitled “additional information,” the IEP states that the TEAM agrees to provide home services for any vacation extending beyond 5 school days. Additionally, the IEP provided for quarterly progress meetings.  Parents accepted the placement, but partially rejected the OT goal; Parents requested the goal of Student writing his first name with a stencil by June 2006 and independently writing his full name by June 2007.  (S-21; P-83)

25. Progress reports for January and April 2006 reveal an apparent increase in the rate of negative behaviors.  In April 2006, Student averaged 121 bolts, 41 flops, and 315 episodes of non-compliance per month for the prior quarter, compared with nine bolts, fewer than one flop, and 16 episodes of non-compliance per month for the quarter ending in January 2006.  (P-59 )

26. Student’s TEAM convened on May 17, 2006, to address Student’s escalating behaviors in light of the “no consent” letter referred to above, as well as to address Parents’ concern about Student’s slow progress in acquiring writing skills.  The TEAM amended Student’s IEP to add 30 minutes per week of direct OT services on a trial basis to work on name writing, as well as to provide for an FBA to be conducted by an outside evaluator.  (P-59, P-83)

27. The outside evaluator whom Hudson retained to conduct the FBA was Robert Ross, a BCBA who also is a senior vice president of BEACON Services.  Mr. Ross conducted his evaluation in June 2006. After observing Student, analyzing data, and meeting with staff, Mr. Ross recommended adjustments in staff members’ approaches and responses to Student’s behaviors with the goal of reinforcing desired behavior, rather than unintentionally reinforcing negative behaviors.
  (P-67).

28. The TEAM met to consider Mr. Ross’ FBA on September 6, 2006.  The record does not indicate precisely what changes to Student’s IEP that the TEAM implemented.  In any event, the behaviors began to diminish in frequency and intensity during the next quarters (September 2006 through April 2007), although Student continued to “cycle through” obsessive behaviors that reportedly did not interfere with his learning.  (P-59)

29. In October and November, 2006, Hudson conducted Student’s three-year re-evaluation, which consisted of cognitive, educational, speech/language and occupational therapy assessments.  School psychologist Judy Flum, who conducted the cognitive assessment, recommended continued ABA programming, use of pictures and sign to support communication, and continued programming to develop interpersonal and daily living skills.  (S-2)  

30. The educational assessment consisted primarily of the Assessment of Basic Language and Learning Skills (ABLLS), a criterion referenced test that also had been completed in March 2005.  Among other things, the ABLLS showed that Student had made some gains in the areas of communication, letter identification, socialization and self-care.  Writing, fine motor, and toileting skills had not changed since the previous year, and Student had lost some gross motor skills.  (S-3).  The speech and language assessment, conducted by Kathleen Park, revealed that Student had a significant language disability with receptive skills slightly stronger than expressive language abilities.  He had demonstrated “significant growth” in both areas of language over the previous years.  Ms. Park recommended continued speech/language consultation services and “intensive direct instruction to acquire and maintain his communicative repertoire.”  (S-4).  

31. Ann Cleary, Student’s occupational therapist, also evaluated Student using the HELP Checklist for Special Preschoolers, Fine Motor Subtest, the Easter Seals Developmental Checklist, and selected subtests of the Developmental Assessment for Individuals with Severe Disabilities- 2 (DASH-2).  Student’s ABA therapists were present during the evaluation.   Overall skill levels ranged from 18 to 30 months in the areas of fine motor, visual perceptual motor, puzzle assembly and prewriting.    Student had stronger self-help skills, and demonstrated travel and safety skills up to thee 71 month.    

32. Ms. Cleary had assessed Student previously, in conjunction with his 2003 re-evaluation.  At that time, Student had not yet developed the mature grasping patterns, scissor skills, motor accuracy and visual attention, and fine motor skills that he demonstrated in 2006.  Student also had made progress in pre-writing skills between 2003 and 2006.  He neither scribbled spontaneously nor imitated a vertical line in 2003 but was able to do so in 2006.  Student’s acquisition of pre-writing skills is slow, at least partially because his motivation and interest are limited.  (S-10).  Ms. Cleary has made considerable effort to get Student interested in pre-writing skills, including by using a variety of media and writing implements.  (Cleary, S-6)

33. After the TEAM met to review the 2006 re-evaluations, it issued an IEP covering the period of March 8, 2006 through March 8, 2007, and calling for continued placement in the CDP program.  (S-8)  (There is no IEP in the documentary record covering March 2007 to March 2008, but there seems to be no dispute that such an IEP was issued and that it called for continued CDP placement.)

34. As stated above, the IEP for March 2006 through March 2007 provided for home-based services during holiday breaks of more than 5 school days.  A dispute arose over home-based services during the December 2006 holiday break.  To summarize, one of Student’s ABA therapists, who normally would have provided the services in Student’s home over the break, declined to do so because she felt uncomfortable about being in Student’s home.    The therapist did offer to provide the services within the school building.  When Parents declined this option, Ms. May recruited a qualified ABA therapist from another school district who would see Student in his home.   Parents also declined this offer, stating that Student would react badly to a new ABA therapist in his home whom he had not met previously.  (S-8).  On February 16, 2007, Parents filed a PQA complaint on this issue and on February 22, 2007, PQA found the district to be compliant with both the IEP and pertinent regulations.  (S-8)

35. On or about February 27, 2007, Hudson issued an IEP for February 2007 through February 2008.  Once again, Student’s placement was the CDP classroom.  The service delivery grid reflected the addition of 30 minutes per week of direct OT services in Grid C.  The School proposed conducting an assistive technology evaluation within 6 to 8 months.  On May 10, 2007 Parents rejected the placement and partially rejected the IEP.  Among other things, Parents asserted that Student was not making adequate progress in the CDP, and requested an outside placement.  (S-22)  Parents are not pursuing this claim at this hearing, and it has not been mentioned elsewhere in the record. 

36. On June 25 and July 5, 2007, Parents obtained a consultation and review of Student’s program from a behavioral psychologist, Dr. Mariela Vargas-Irwin, Psy. D, BCBA.  (S-6).  After observing Student at school, reviewing Student’s records, and interviewing Parents and Ms. May, Dr. Vargas-Irwin concluded that Student was deriving benefit from Hudson’s program, which, generally, was appropriate.  Dr. Vargas strongly recommended the following:

· A home-based component consisting of 48 weeks per year, 10 hours per week of direct services and 2 hours per week of consultation to parents to enable Student to generalize skills and to prevent residential placement;

· A complete augmentive communication evaluation, along with some modifications to his current PECS program;

· Gradual substitution of tokens for some of Student’s edible reinforcers

· Theoretical and competency training for all ABA staff to ensure that they follow Student’s behavioral support plan;

· Additional functional analysis of Student’s environment if full implementation of all aspects of the behavior support plan do not eliminate self-injurious or aggressive behavior  

37. In November 2007, in response to Parents’ questions, Dr. Vargas-Irwin recommended, via emails to Parents, 3 hours per week of consultation to the School program and 2 hours per week of consultation to Parents by a BCBA or doctoral level psychologist.  She also recommended that the home service provider have a bachelor’s degree.  

38. An assistive technology (AT) consultation took place with Jennifer Corso on October 15, 2007.  The evaluator suggested a trial of the Dyanavox M3 in addition to Student’s use of total communication.  (S-11)

39. The TEAM met in November 2007 to consider Dr. Vargas-Irwin’s and Ms. Corso’s reports.  Hudson agreed to adopt Ms. Corso’s recommendation for a trial of an assistive technology device for communication.  Hudson also agreed to adopt Dr. Vargas-Irwin’s proposal for home–based services. (S-23)  

40. Hudson declined to adopt Dr. Vargas-Irwin’s proposals for theoretical and competency training of ABA staff, for requiring that home ABA providers have bachelor’s degrees, or that the program consultant be a BCBA or doctoral level psychologist. 

41. Parents partially rejected the proposed IEP amendment that was issued after the November 2007 meeting, and rejected Student’s placement.  In sum, Parents once again asserted that Student was not making effective progress in the CDP, and would not make such progress unless Dr. Vargas-Irwin’s recommendations were adopted in full.  (S-23)  Parents did accept the proposed home-based services on November 22, 2007, which was during the Thanksgiving break.  (May)  After taking the family’s and provider’s schedule into account, Hudson was prepared to provide services beginning on December 10, 2008.  Student was not available on that day, so services began on December 11, 2008.  (May)  There is no evidence that Student regressed because of the eleven day gap from acceptance of the IEP and provision of services.  

42. Because the proposed IEP called for 48 weeks of home-based service, Hudson did not propose services for winter vacation, 2007.  At the time the IEP was partially accepted, Hudson sent Parents a proposed calendar for scheduling home-based services which reflected that winter vacation 2007 was one of the four weeks during which Student would not receive home-based services.  (May)

43. After additional TEAM meetings, on December 5, 2007, Hudson issued another IEP that incorporated some, but not all of Parents’ requested changes.  Hudson continued to decline to adopt a recommendation for requiring a BCBA  or doctoral level psychologist to provide consultation services, taking the position that Ms. May is qualified for this role, that home-based ABA providers do not need bachelor’s degrees (although the providers for Student do, in fact have such degrees).  Hudson also refused to adopt an IEP goal of a token economy, as this is not an established reinforcer for Student at this time.  (However, subsequently, the School has started to introduce token reinforcers.  (P-8))  Parents again rejected the placement and partially rejected the IEP.  (S-24)  

44.  On January 4, 2008, Dr. Karen Bresnahan issued a report of a pediatric neurodevelopmental evaluation that she had conducted in October 2007.  In relevant part, Dr. Bresnahan’s report recommended continuing Student’s receipt of the 1:1 ABA services in his IEP, adopting Dr. Vargas-Irwin’s recommendations concerning credentials of consultants and ABA providers, and providing home services over vacation periods longer than ten days. (S-10) 

45. The TEAM met on or about February 11, 2008 to consider Dr. Bresnahan’s report.  On February 21, 2008, Hudson issued an IEP that rejected most of Dr. Bresnahan’s recommendations.  The new IEP, which Parents have not signed, states steps that the School has taken to start a trial of a Dynavox AT device and also provides for two hours per week of parent consultation with the special education teacher and 10 hours per week of home-based services.  (S-14).  Hudson has circulated a calendar in an attempt to schedule the home services.  

46. Since January 2008, Student has been receiving approximately 4 of the ten hours per week of offered services, due to ongoing disputes over scheduling the remaining hours.  These disputes have resulted in, among other things, a provider going to the house every Thursday and Friday afternoon, at a time when Parents and Student are available, ringing the doorbell, waiting for fifteen minutes, and ringing again; no one answered the door between January 3, 2008 and the dates of the hearing.  (May).  

47. Although the Parents contend that Student’s negative behaviors are escalating, interfere with Student’s learning, and put him at risk of needing a more restrictive setting, the School disagrees.  Ms. May has testified that when behavioral data for the past several years is plotted on “trend lines” (Excel graphs that express data in linear form ), this data reveals that certain behaviors—self-injurious behaviors, aggressions, environmental destruction, stripping, mouthing, and bolting—have been on a steadily downward trend (albeit with some spikes) from 2004 to 2007.  (May, S-16A-S-16J).

48. On the other hand, graphing indicates that obsessive behaviors and non-compliance behaviors have been increasing.  Dr. Kamean-Silva and Ms. May testified that there are several hypotheses that may explain the reasons for this increase in non-compliance, including limitations (from the no-consent form) on Hudson’s ability to use any type of physical intervention to make Student do something he does not want to do;  Student’s increased ability to understand how to escape non-preferred tasks; increased academic demands since 2004; delay in reinforcement caused by Hudson’s recent use of tokens instead of food reinforcers; a limited number of items that are powerful reinforcers for Student; Student’s discomfort from allergies and eczema; inability to access his bicycle as a reinforcer from January 29 to March 20, 2008 because his bike helmet was broken.  (Kamean-Silva, May)  

49. Parents want Student to move to a second CDP classroom, because they believe that the current age range is inappropriate and that Student could be distracted by the noise of younger children.  In July 2007, Parents filed a PQA complaint to this effect.  After investigation and review by a PQA supervisor, no violations of pertinent regulations were found.  Parents presented no testimony or documents suggesting that notwithstanding PQA’s findings, the grouping is inappropriate for Student. 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

Based on the evidence at the hearing, I conclude that the IEP and for the period February 2008 through February 2009 is reasonably calculated to provide Student with FAPE.  Specifically, Parents have failed to meet their burden of persuasion regarding the specific points of disagreement with the services offered and/or provided by Hudson. My reasoning follows.                

Legal Framework

The FAPE Standard

There is no dispute that Student is a school-aged child with a disability who is eligible for special education and related services pursuant to the IDEA, 20 USC Section 1400, et seq., and the Massachusetts special education statute, G.L. c. 71B (“Chapter 766”). Therefore, Student is entitled to a free appropriate public education (FAPE) as defined in federal and state law.   

The definition of FAPE in Massachusetts has been discussed extensively in prior BSEA decisions and will not be reiterated at length here.
  In sum, an eligible child, like Student, is entitled to a program and services that are tailored to his or her unique needs and that provide significant, meaningful benefit in light of the child’s needs and potential, that is, “‘effective results’ and ‘demonstrable improvement’ in the educational and personal skills identified as special needs.” 34 C.F.R. 300.300(3)(ii); Lenn v. Portland School Committee, 998 F.2d 1083 (1st Cir. 1993), citing Roland M. v. Concord School Committee, 910 F.2d 983 (1st Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 499 U.S. 912 (1991).

According to the decision of the U.S. Supreme Court in Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49 (2005), in a special education due process hearing, the party seeking relief, that is, the party seeking to change the status quo, carries the burden of persuasion on all of his or her claims.  Where the parent is the moving party, the parent must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the school district’s proposed or existing IEP and/or services are inappropriate, that is, they are not reasonably calculated to provide the student with FAPE.  If the parent’s and school’s evidence is equivalent, then the school prevails.  Id.
DISCUSSION

Here, the parties agree on Student’s general profile.  The parties do not dispute that Student is a happy, likeable child with severe autism and global developmental delays.  They also agree that Student’s severe and complex disabilities affect his functioning in virtually all domains, including cognition, communication, social and emotional functioning, and daily living, and give rise to various behavioral difficulties.  

The parties also substantially agree about the type of educational programming that Student needs.  There is no dispute that to make effective educational progress, Student needs a highly structured, individualized program designed for children on the autism spectrum.  The program must be based on ABA principles.  Most or all of Student’s instruction must be delivered in a one-to-one setting using a discrete trial format. Service providers must be knowledgeable about educating children with Student’s profile.  They must be capable of implementing discrete trial programs and behavioral support plans as well as gathering accurate data. The educational program must provide adequate oversight, training and supervision of the ABA therapists and other providers.  The program must also provide Student with a distraction-free environment for learning, and must have a total communication approach.  The parties now agree that Student needs direct occupational therapy services, as well as access to assistive technology for communication.   Parents’ evaluators have endorsed Student’s current program, with suggested modifications, many of which the School has adopted.  Although Parents have on occasion stated that Student is not properly placed, they have not pursued this claim, and, throughout this proceeding, have sought only to modify the current placement.  


The discrete issues in dispute have been set forth at the beginning of this decision and will be addressed in turn.  


Qualifications of Consultant to Program


The Parents have not presented any credible evidence to prove that Ms. May lacks adequate training to serve as consultant to Student’s home and school service providers.  The record shows that Ms. May is a Master’s-level special education teacher, certified as a teacher of children with severe special needs, with substantial experience teaching children on the autism spectrum using methodologies based on ABA principles, as well as in hiring, training and supervising ABA therapists.  She is one course short of being eligible to sit for the BCBA certification exam.  Finally, Ms. May does not work in isolation.  She collaborates with Dr. Kamean-Silva who is, in fact, a doctoral-level psychologist with many years of experience working with children with autism and other behavioral disorders.  The reports of Drs. Vargas-Irwin and Bresnahan cite no factual basis for their recommendations regarding credentials of a consultant.  Since neither doctor testified at hearing, there is no evidence as to whether they would maintain their positions if they had heard testimony regarding Ms. May’s qualifications.  


Qualifications of ABA Providers


Parents have presented no evidence, other than the written assertions of Drs. Vargas –Irwin and Bresnahan, that bachelor’s degrees are necessary for ABA providers.  Interestingly, the doctors do not specify a relevant subject area for the recommended bachelor’s degree, or discuss other types of training or experience that an ABA therapist should have.  Thus, Parents have presented no evidence to contradict the testimony of Dr. Kamean-Silva to the effect that in her experience, such a degree is not necessary for an ABA therapist.  In any event, Student’s current providers have bachelor’s degrees.  


Competency and Theoretical Training of ABA Providers    


Once again, the only basis for this claim is the unsupported assertion of an evaluator—Dr. Vargas-Irwin—who was not present to elaborate on her position or comment on the training that the providers actually do receive.  Ms. May and Dr. Kamean-Silva testified persuasively that they can and do assess the ABA providers and meet their needs, both for initial training and orientation and for ongoing education and performance review.  Parents provided no evidence that the ABA providers do not, in fact, receive the type of training recommended by Dr. Vargas-Irwin.


Implicit in the Parents’ request for increased credentials, training and supervision of the ABA providers and consultant is the assertion that Student’s behavioral difficulties are the result of providers who lack sufficient education, training, or supervision.  There simply is no evidence on the record to support this hypothesis. Ms. May testified credibly that certain maladaptive behaviors were actually declining, and proposed reasonable hypotheses –unrelated to the skill of the providers—for the others.  In any event, the addition of home-based services and augmentive communication opportunities may well result in improved behavior from Student.


Change in Classroom and Instructional Grouping


Parents cannot prevail on their claims for changing Student’s instructional grouping or classroom.  They once again have provided no evidence, from their expert evaluators or elsewhere, that suggests that Student’s current instructional grouping is inappropriate or that the second CDP classroom is appropriate for Student.  While it might be preferable for Student to be in a class where all students are close to his own age, there is no showing either that PQA made a legal error when it found no violation of the law, or that the grouping and/or setting denies FAPE to Student.  


Replacement of Occupational Therapist


The IDEA does not give parents or hearing officers the right to direct school districts to designate particular individuals to provide services to students, or to remove or replace particular individuals, as long as the provider is duly qualified, unless the district’s choice to assign or remove a particular individual would deprive a student of FAPE.  See In Re: Ipswich Public Schools, 12 MSER 336, 345 (2006).   There is no dispute that Ann Cleary, a registered and licensed occupational therapist with many years of experience is qualified to provide services to Student.  Moreover, Student has made slow but measurable progress in his IEP goals while working with Ms. Cleary, as is demonstrated by his improved fine motor skills between 2003 and 2006.  There is no evidence in the record (other than Parents’ mention of a one-time conversation with Ms. Cleary) that Student has not made effective progress in OT, and no recommendations from Parents’ experts for changing Student’s provider.  Therefore, Parents have not met their burden of persuasion on this issue.  


Addition of IEP Goals

Hudson has already begun to implement Parents’ request for a trial of an augmentive communication device and has begun to slowly introduce token reinforcers in place of food. 

Compensatory Services

Parents may be entitled to compensatory services if procedural violations by the school district result in a denial of FAPE.  See Murphy v. Timberlane Regional School District, 22 F. 3d 1186, 1196 (1st Cir. 1994) The violation must be substantial; technical or de minimis violations, or violations that do not deprive a child of FAPE do not give rise to an entitlement to compensatory service.  Moreover, since compensatory service is in the nature of an equitable remedy, the hearing officer may assess the conduct of the parties, and may reduce or deny compensatory services if the parents have contributed to the loss or denial of services.  Id.    


Here, there are four time periods for which Parents claim compensatory home-based services:  winter vacation, December 2006 (six hours), eleven days following Parents’ acceptance of the home services in the IEP issued in November 2007; services not provided during winter vacation in December 2007, and home services since November 11, 2007 missed due to a scheduling impasse.  

For each of these periods, Parents have failed to show a procedural violation on Hudson’s part that deprived Student of services, thereby denying him FAPE.  With respect to the six hours missed in December 2006, Parents have presented no evidence that would warrant a different result from that reached by PQA on the same issue.  Parents were offered a choice of services from a familiar provider in the school building, or by a qualified but unfamiliar provider at home.  Either option would have complied with Student’s IEP.  The vacation services were offered to prevent regression, not to teach home-based skills; there is no evidence that providing the services in the school building would defeat that purpose and deprive Student of FAPE.  Put another way, even if an offer of services in school rather than at home was a violation of the literal terms of the IEP, such violation was technical and de minimis.  Moreover, while it might have been preferable for a service provider at Student’s home to be someone familiar to him, use of a familiar provider was not required by the IEP and, in any event, Parents had the option of avoiding the potential disruptiveness of using an unknown provider by using the services of a known provider in the school building.  


  The eleven-day period following Parents’ acceptance of home-based services on November 22, 2008 likewise fails to support a claim for compensatory services.  The record shows that Ms. May used this time to coordinate schedules and develop lesson plans and goals for the home services.  There is no evidence that the eleven-day gap was unreasonable under the circumstances or deprived Student of FAPE.  


Student was not entitled to services during the winter break in December 2007.  The November 2007 IEP substituted a comprehensive program of 10 hours per week, 48 weeks per year of home services for the few hours provided during school vacations under previous IEPs.  The December 2007 vacation week was intended as one of the 4 weeks out of 52 during which Student would not receive home-based services.   Since Student was not entitled to services during that week under his IEP, Hudson owes him no compensatory services for that period.


Finally, the parties’ unfortunate impasse over scheduling home services from January 2008 forward does not give rise to a claim for compensatory services.  The record shows not only that Hudson has made reasonable efforts to accommodate Parents’ schedules, but that Parents have refused services during hours and on days when they clearly were available.  Hudson has fulfilled its obligations for this time period.   

CONCLUSION


Based on the foregoing, Parents have not met their burden of persuasion on any of their claims for relief.  Hudson’s IEP for February 2008-February 2009 is reasonably calculated to provide Student with FAPE.  Hudson does not owe compensatory services to Student.  The parties are urged to take all steps to resolve their impasse over scheduling home-based services so that Student can benefit.

By the Hearing Officer,

__________________________


________________________

Sara Berman




Dated:  May 6, 2008  





� The School requested and was granted a postponement of the initial hearing date of February 6, 2008.  A status conference call and pre-hearing conference were held, respectively, on January 22 and 24, 2008.  


� At the request of the hearing officer, Parents framed the issues for hearing and relief sought in a statement of issues filed on February 29, 2008.  In their original statement of issues, Parents also sought an order barring certain School staff members from participating in Student’s educational planning as well as an order directing a particular individual to work with Student.  On the first day of hearing, the hearing officer granted the School’s motion to dismiss these claims on the grounds that the BSEA lacks authority to grant the relief requested.    


� In August 2006 Parents filed a complaint with then-DOE’s department of Program Quality Assurance (PQA) alleging that Hudson had violated the IDEA by conducting the FBA without  parental consent.   


� Dr. Vargas-Irwin reported that staff were not fully implementing the antecedent interventions contained in the plan.  


� See, for example, Arlington Public Schools, BSEA No. 02-1327 (Crane, 2002)
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